2008

Martha I. Thompson v. James A. Thompson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78A-4-103(2)(h).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

FIRST ISSUE: Whether the trial court erred in failing to utilize the “back-out method” in calculating the marital interest by first subtracting the amount necessary to reimburse Mr. Thompson’s separate, pre-marital contribution, along with appreciated interest which had already accrued thereon, before determining and dividing the marital interest? (R. at 159, 195, 198, 207 and 213).

SECOND ISSUE: Whether it was error for the trial court to fail to award Mr. Thompson’s principal and the appreciated value of his separate, pre-marital contributions held in his 401(k) plan? (R. at 159, 195, 198, 207 and 213).

THIRD ISSUE: Whether it was error for the trial court to fail to award Mr. Thompson’s principal and appreciated value of his separate, pre-marital contribution to the acquisition of the marital home when the marital home was acquired through traceable pre-marital funds belonging only to Mr. Thompson? (R. at 193-196, 206-207 and 213).

Standards of Review:

- a. Correction of Error. Although considerable deference is accorded to factual findings, conclusions of law arising from those findings are to be reviewed for correctness and are given no special deference on appeal. Brigham v. Brigham, 872 P.2d 1065 (Utah Ct. App. 1994);

Howell v. Howell, 806 P.2d 1209 (Utah Ct. App) (cert. denied, 817 P.2d 325 (Utah 1991)).

- b. Abuse of Discretion. Trial courts may exercise broad discretion in divorce matters so long as the decision is within the confines of legal precedence. Whitehead v. Whitehead, 836 P.2d 814 (Utah Ct. App. 1992); Allred v. Allred, 797 P.2d 1108 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). The trial court's decision must be exercised within legal parameters set by appellate courts. Cummings v. Cummings, 821 P.3d 472 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).
- c. Appellate review of the property distribution to determine whether the award is based upon the "standards set by this state's appellate courts." Haumont v. Haumont, 793 P.2d 421 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).
- d. Clearly erroneous standard of review when the trial court fashions an award against the clear weight of evidence, or unless the Court of Appeals reaches a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. Weston v. Weston, 773 P.2d 408 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is from a final Decree of Divorce of the Fifth Judicial District Court. Appellant seeks (1) the reversal of the trial court's decision which awards Mrs. Thompson a one-half interest in the monies which had accumulated in Mr. Thompson's 401(k) retirement account during the years of marriage without first backing-out Mr. Thompson's appreciated separate, pre-marital contribution to the

same 401(k) retirement account; and (2) the reversal of the trial court's decision which awards Mrs. Thompson a one-half interest in the entire equity held in the Utah Home without first subtracting the amount necessary to reimburse Mr. Thompson's separate, pre-marital contribution to the subject real property and the appreciation accrued upon that same pre-marital contribution.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

1. Mr. and Mrs. Thompson were married in California on the 14th of February, 2002. (R. at 206).
2. Mrs. Thompson initiated the action for divorce in May of 2007. (R at 1).
3. The Trial Court heard the case on January 29, 2008. (R. at 205 and 212).
4. The Trial Court entered the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on April 14, 2008. (R. at 205-211).
5. The Decree of Divorce was entered on May 21, 2008. (R. at 212-216).
6. In 1990, approximately twelve (12) years before the parties' marriage, Mr. Thompson initiated a 401(k) plan. (R. at 198).
7. This 401(k) account was derived from and funded through his employment with the same employer in both California and Utah. (Id.)
8. Between 1990 and 2002, a period of twelve (12) years, Mr. Thompson made pre-marital contributions to this 401(k) account. (Id.)
9. At the time of the marriage in 2002, the 401(k) account held a value of \$68,784. (R. at 198 and 213 ¶5).

10. Mrs. Thompson did not made any financial contributions to this 401(k) account during the years of marriage. (R. at 198).
11. At the time of trial, the value of the account was \$177,352. (R. at 198 and 213).
12. The average rate of growth within the 401(k) account between and during the marriage, 2002 through 2007, varied between a negative eighteen point twenty-two percent (-18.22%) and a positive thirty-one point sixty-five percent (+31.65%). (R. at 158-159, 198; Exhibits 25 & 26 (Addenda)).
13. Mr. Thompson's original separate, pre-marital amount of \$68,784 had appreciated to \$136,385.21 by the time of trial. (R. at 198).
14. The figure of \$136,385.21 represented Mr. Thompson's appreciated value of his separate, pre-marital contribution. (Id.)
15. The Trial Court concluded that the value in the 401(k) account at the time of trial was \$177,352. (R. at 207 and 213).
16. The Trial Court simply deducted the unappreciated, pre-marital value (\$68,784.00) held in the 401(k) account at the time of marriage from the value held in the 401(k) account at the time of trial (\$177,302.00). (Id.)
17. The Trial Court then concluded that \$108,518 held in the 401(k) plan was the marital value which had accumulated during the marriage and should therefore be divided equally among the parties. (Id.)

18. The Trial Court did not account for, nor back-out, any portion of the appreciated value which had accrued upon Mr. Thompson's separate, pre-marital value held in this 401(k) account. (*Cf.* R. at 207 and 213 w 198).

19. Several years prior to his marriage to Mrs. Thompson, Mr. Thompson purchased and continuously owned a home in California (hereinafter "California Home") as his sole and separate property. (R. at 193, 196 and 213),

20. After the marriage in 2002, the parties resided in the California Home. (R. at 193, 196, 206 and 213).

21. However, Mrs. Thompson did not contribute anything to the California Home, nor was her name ever placed on title or on any indebtedness secured by the California Home. (R. at 193-196).

22. Both before and after the marriage, Mr. Thompson continued to pay all of the expenses, premiums, tax assessments, and all other related costs to the maintenance and retention of the California Home. (*Id.*)

23. In 2005, Mr. Thompson received an employment offer in the State of Utah and the parties subsequently relocated to Utah. (R. at 194 and 206).

24. In 2005, Mr. Thompson sold his California Home and applied \$86,410.25 derived from the net sale proceeds from his California Home to the purchase of a home located in St. George, Utah ("Utah Home"). (R. at 206-07 ¶9).

25. Mrs. Thompson did not make any financial contribution towards the acquisition of the Utah Home. (R. at 194).

26. However, Mrs. Thompson's name was added as a joint tenant to the title of the Utah Home and she had signed on the mortgage secured by the Utah Home. (R. at 158, 194 and 206).

27. Based upon the stipulation of the parties at trial, the present fair market value of the Utah Home at time of trial was \$450,000.00 subject to an existing mortgage of \$326,523. (R. at 207 ¶11).

28. The Utah Home was purchased for \$399,900.00. (R. at 158). Thus, there was an appreciated value between the purchase price and value at the time of trial of twelve point five percent (12.5%). (R. at 196-197).

30. Petitioner argued at trial that the appreciated value of his separate, pre-marital contribution to the Utah Home was \$97,211.53 (the pre-marital contribution plus the 12.5% appreciation); an increase of \$10,801.28. (Id.)

31. Had the back-out method been used by the trial court, the marital equity would have therefore been \$26,965.46 (i.e., the fair market value of \$450,000 less \$326,523 mortgage, less \$97,211.54 (i.e., Mr. Thompson's appreciated pre-marital contribution)). (Id.) Therefore, one-half of the gross marital equity would have been set at \$13,132.73. (Id.)

32. The Trial Court held that the Utah Home was a marital asset. (R. at 206).

33. The Trial Court found that the sale proceeds from the sale of Mr. Thompson's California Home had been commingled into the marital estate, that "[d]uring the next two or three years of marriage [between 2002 and 2005], Petitioner [Mrs. Thompson] acquired some community property interest in

Respondent's [Mr. Thompson's] California home, but the evidence before the Court does not allow this to be quantified", and title to the Utah Home was held by both parties. (R. at 206, ¶¶ 6-10).

34. The Trial Court ordered that the Utah Home should be sold and all of the net proceeds divided equally between the parties; or, in the alternative, either party should be allowed to purchase the interest of the other for \$62,000.00 within six months after the entry of the final Decree of Divorce. (R. at 213 at ¶4).

35. The Trial Court did not award any portion of Mr. Thompson's pre-marital contribution of \$86,410.25 nor any accrued appreciation. (Cf. R. at 206-207, 213 *with* 196-197).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The general rule is that equity requires that each party retain the separate property he or she brought into the marriage. Haumont v. Haumont, 793 P.2d 421, 424 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). In order to properly effect an equitable distribution of property, the Trial Court should have utilized the "back-out method" by subtracting the amount necessary to reimburse Mr. Thompson for his appreciated pre-marital contributions to the marital property before dividing the marital property equally between the parties. Hayes v. Hayes, 20050645 (2006 UT App. 289); Hall v. Hall, 858 P.2d 1018, 1023 (Utah App. 1993); and Burt v. Burt, 799 P.2d 1166, 1172 (UT App. 1990).

Prior to his marriage to Mrs. Thompson, Mr. Thompson opened his 401(k) retirement account through his employer. (R. at 198, 207 ¶13 and 213). Between

1990 and 2002, the years prior to the parties' marriage, Mr. Thompson had contributed \$68,784 in principal to his 401(k) account. (Id.)

During the marriage, the 401(k) account had experienced growth and fluctuation between a negative eighteen point twenty-two percent (-18.22%) and a positive thirty-one point sixty-five percent (31.65%). (R. at 159 Exhibits 25 and 26). Mr. Thompson's separate, pre-marital contribution had therefore appreciated from \$68,784 to \$136,385.21. (R. at 198). Mr. Thompson should have been permitted to retain the principal along with appreciated value of his pre-marital contributions to his retirement account as his sole and separate property. Hayes v. Hayes, 20050645 (2006 UT App. 289); Hall v. Hall, 858 P.2d 1018, 1023 (Utah App. 1993); Burt v. Burt, 799 P.2d 1166, 1172 (UT App. 1990); and Haumont v. Haumont, 793 P.2d 421, 424 (UT App. 1990).

With respect to the Utah Home, Mr. Thompson contributed \$86,410.25 of the net sale proceeds which were derived solely from the sale of his separate, pre-marital asset (i.e., the California Home) to the purchase of the Utah Home. (R. at 195-196). Mrs. Thompson did not make any financial contribution to the acquisition or satisfaction of the mortgage obligations secured by the Utah Home. (R. 196 and 206).

Under Utah caselaw cited above and the general principles of equity recognized by Utah law, Mr. Thompson should have been credited with the principal and appreciated value of this pre-marital contribution before the remaining equity in the home was divided between the parties.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO UTILIZE THE “BACK-OUT METHOD” BEFORE DIVIDING THE MARITAL INTEREST.

The appropriate treatment of property brought into the marriage by one party may vary from case to case. Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276, 1277 (Utah 1987). Utah law recognizes that a trial court has the power to effect an equitable distribution of property by considering both parties’ contributions during the marriage. See Hayes v. Hayes, 2006 WL 1917822, 2006 UT App. 289; Hall v. Hall, 858 P.2d 1018, 1023 (UT App. 1993); Preston v. Preston, 646 P.2d 705, 706 (Utah 1982). The general rule is that equity requires that each party retain the separate property he or she brought into the marriage. Haumont v. Haumont, 793 P.2d 421, 424 (UT App. 1990).

In determining the value of marital equity, a trial court should utilize the “back-out method” of “first subtract[ing] the amount necessary to reimburse [a party’s] contribution” to the marital property before dividing the marital property equally.” Hall, 858 P.2d at 1023 (UT App. 1993). In the instant case, the Trial Court erred by failing to utilize the “back-out” method and by failing to award Mr. Thompson the amount necessary to reimburse him for his separate, pre-marital contributions to the marital interests; both in the pre-marital 401(k) account and his equity from the separate pre-marital California Home. See Hall, 858 P.2d at 1023 (Utah Ct. App. 1993); Preston, 646 P.2d at 706 (Utah 1982); and Hayes, 2006 WL 1917822, 2006 Utah Ct. App. 289.

A. The Trial Court Should Have Awarded Mr. Thompson the Principal and Appreciated Value of His Separate, Pre-Marital Contributions Held in His 401(k) Account.

Mr. Thompson is entitled to the principal and appreciated value of his pre-marital contributions to his 401(k) retirement account. Under Utah law, the issue of accrued interest on any pre-marital portions of a retirement account is analyzed pursuant to the rules regarding premarital property and separate property. Dunn v. Dunn, 802 P.2d 1314, 1330 (UT App. 1990). The standard set forth by Utah's appellate courts is that each party retains the separate property he or she brought into the marriage, including any appreciation of the separate property, unless the property has been commingled with marital assets or if the other spouse has by his or her efforts augmented, maintained, or protected the separate property. See Id. at 1320 (holding that the husband was entitled to all of his premarital contributions to three retirement funds, plus the interest attributable to those contributions, because the wife did not, through her efforts, augment, maintain, or protect the separate property. See also Oliekan v. Oliekan, 2006 UT App 405, ¶ 24, 147 P.3d 464 (holding that since the marital and pre-marital funds in a 401(k) account could be separately identified, the trial court correctly divided the funds by awarding the husband his premarital interest, plus appreciation on that amount, and equitably dividing the separate marital portion of the account).

Mr. Thompson's pre-marital contributions of \$68,784 to the 401(k) account were easily determinable by the Trial Court. (R. at 198, 158 #18, 207 ¶13, 213 ¶5). Moreover, the appreciation experienced by Mr. Thompson's pre-marital

contribution to the 401(k) account were likewise easily determinable through Mr. Thompson's exhibit which set forth the annual appreciation and depreciation of the 401(k) account. (R. 159 Exhibits 25 and 26, and R. at 198). Equity and fairness require that Mr. Thompson should have been awarded his separate, pre-marital funds he brought into the marriage, including the appreciated growth of those funds. Burt, 799 P.2d at 1169 and Dunn 802 P.2d at 1320.

During the course of the marriage, it was undisputed that Mr. Thompson continued to make financial contributions to the same 401(k) account through his employment. (R. at 198; see also, 207 ¶14, and 213). Nevertheless, even with contributions during the course of the marriage, it is still possible to trace and identify Mr. Thompson's separate pre-marital contributions and, just as important, the interest appreciation which had accrued upon his separate, pre-marital contribution. See, Preston, 646 P.2d at 706. Additionally, Mrs. Thompson did not, by her own efforts, augment, maintain, or protect Mr. Thompson's premarital contributions in any way. (R. at 194, 198). Thus, Mr. Thompson should have been awarded a total of \$136,385.21 (\$68,784 (pre-marital contribution) plus \$68,601.21 (interest attributed thereto)) and an equitable share of the separate, marital portion of the account. (R. at 159 Exhibits 25 and 26, and R. at 198).

The Trial Court mistakenly relied upon the case of Jeffries v. Jeffries, 895 P.2d 835 (UT App. 1995). The Trial Court erred in finding that Mr. Thompson was only entitled to his principal pre-marital contribution and that he was not entitled to any of the appreciation or growth which had accumulated on his

separate, pre-marital contribution to his 401(k) account. (See, R. at 207 ¶13-15).

The Trial Court made the following findings with respect to the 401(k) account (R. at 207):

13. Respondent's 401k retirement account had a value of \$68,784 at the time of the parties' marriage in 2002.
14. The 401k account had a value of \$177,302 at time of trial.
15. The difference of \$108,518 (sic [was]) accumulated during the marriage and is marital property (Jefferies v. Jefferies is the correct precedent) and Petitioner should be awarded one-half of that accumulate amount.

The issue on appeal in Jefferies was whether a 401(a) plan can be considered marital property. (Jefferies 859 P.2d at 836). In the instant case, there was not a dispute as to whether or not Mr. Thompson's 401(k) account had a marital-property component. At the time of trial, the 401(k) account was comprised of three components; namely, (1) Mr. Thompson's pre-marital contribution (2) the appreciation/growth on his pre-marital contribution; and (3) the contributions and appreciation/growth on the contributions made during the parties' marriage. (R. at 198).

By failing to account for and factor in the appreciated growth upon Mr. Thompson's pre-marital contribution, the trial court effectively awarded Mrs. Thompson a portion of the appreciation/growth which had accrued upon Mr. Thompson's pre-marital contribution. The Trial Court did not make any finding as to any justification for awarding Mrs. Thompson more than her portion of the marital portion of Mr. Thompson's 401(k) account. Hall, 858 P.2d at 1022-23;

Preston, 646 P.2d at 706; see also, Hayes, 2006 WL 1917822, 2006 UT App 289 (holding that “the trial court properly used a ‘back-out’ method to credit husband’s contribution toward the marital home before applying the fifty percent presumption”). The Trial Court erred when it concluded that the marital portion of the 401(k) account was \$108,518 because this figure included \$67,601.21 of appreciated growth which was only attributable to Mr. Thompson’s separate, pre-marital contribution to his 401(k) account. The Trial Court effectively awarded Mrs. Thompson certain appreciation which was only attributable to Mr. Thompson’s pre-marital contribution.

B. The Trial Court Should have Awarded Mr. Thompson the Principal and Appreciated Value of His Separate, Pre-Marital Contributions to the Acquisition of the Utah Home.

Mr. Thompson should have been credited and awarded his separate, pre-marital contribution towards the Utah Home. Utah courts have long approved the principle that equity requires that each party should recover the separate property he or she brought in to the marriage, together with any interest attributable thereto. Preston, 646 P.2d at 706 (internal citations omitted); See also, Burke v. Burke, 733 P.2d 133, 135 (Utah 1987). Utah law recognizes that trial courts should first subtract the amount necessary to reimburse a party's contribution to the marital property before dividing the proceeds from the sale of the marital property equally. Hall, 858 P.2d at 1022-23; Preston, 646 P.2d at 706; see also, Hayes, 2006 WL 1917822, 2006 UT App 289 (holding that “the trial court properly used

a ‘back-out’ method to credit husband’s contribution toward the marital home before applying the fifty percent presumption”).

Parties should be able to recover the principal and appreciated value of any pre-marital contributions to the acquisition of marital property. Preston, 646 P.2d at 706. In Preston, the district court had awarded the wife one-half of the value of a cabin which had been constructed during the marriage. 646 P.2d at 706. The Utah Supreme Court noted that the husband had paid \$9,310.93 towards the costs of construction, with funds derived from the sale of assets the husband owned prior to the marriage. Id. The Court held that the husband should have been given credit for this \$9,310.93 contribution, together with the appreciation attributable thereto, before the value of the cabin was divided between the parties. Id.

The Utah Supreme Court later reaffirmed this line of reasoning in Newmeyer, 745 P.2d at 1277-78. In Newmeyer, the wife used inherited funds to help purchase several marital homes. Id. at 1277. The trial court gave the wife credit for these contributions before dividing the marital property. Id. On appeal, the husband argued that the trial court should have treated these contributions as marital property because the funds were committed to the common venture of purchasing marital homes. Id. The Court rejected the husband’s argument, stating that the “overriding consideration is that the ultimate division be equitable- that property be fairly divided between the parties, given their contributions during the marriage and their circumstances at the time of divorce.” Id. at 1277-78 (quoting Huck v. Huck, 734 P.2d 417, 420 (Utah 1986)). In reaching its’ decision, the

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