2008

# Martha I. Thompson v. James A. Thompson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

### **SUMMARY OF SECTION I**

A trial court, in dividing a marital estate upon divorce, is not obligated as a matter of Utah law to “back out” alleged separate property. This Court has determined that separate property may lose its character as separate when it is commingled into the marital estate, or when it loses its identity as separate. Burt v. Burt, 799 P.2d 1166, 1169 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). In dividing a marital estate, trial courts are to first categorize the parties’ property as part of the marital estate or as the separate property of one or the other. Burt v. Burt, 799 P.2d 1166, 1172 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). Then, each party is presumed to be entitled to fifty percent of the marital property. Id. In this matter, the trial court properly characterized the assets at issue as marital property, and correctly determined to equally divide the marital portion of such assets.

### **SUMMARY OF SECTION II**

The Court made factual determinations based on the testimonies of the parties and the evidence received at trial that the assets at issue in this appeal are marital property. For Mr. Thompson to properly challenge such factual determinations of the trial court, Mr. Thompson had an obligation under Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 11(e)(2) (2008) to provide a transcript of the testimony given during the parties’ one-day trial. However, Respondent failed to provide a transcript, and, as such, the trial court’s factual determinations and fact intensive legal determinations should be affirmed on appeal. See Horton v. Gem State Mut.

of Utah, 974 P.2d 847, 849 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). In addition, Mr. Thompson failed to marshal the evidence as required under Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(9) (2008). Mr. Thompson’s “Statement of Material Facts” and “Argument” sections of his Brief are based, in large part, on self-serving allegations of fact that are unsupported by any actual evidence or testimony given at trial. Due to Mr. Thompson’s failure to marshal the evidence, this Court is again without sufficient basis to review the factual determinations and the fact intensive legal determinations of the trial court, which should therefore be affirmed. Chen v. Stewart, 100 P.3d 1177 (Utah 2004).

### **SUMMARY OF SECTION III**

The trial court properly awarded Mr. Thompson his premarital portion of his 401(k) retirement plan and divided the marital portion equally. The trial court’s determination of the marital portion of Mr. Thompson’s 401(k) retirement plan is consistent with Utah case law. Woodward v. Woodward, 656 P.2d 431, 433 (Utah 1982); Jefferies v. Jefferies, 895 P.2d 835 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

### **SUMMARY OF SECTION IV**

The trial court properly found that the parties’ St. George home is marital property with its equity subject to equal division. The trial court found that the proceeds from the sale of Mr. Thompson’s California home were commingled into the marital estate. (Addendum 1 at ¶10; R. 206-07). Separate property may lose its character as separate when it is commingled into the marital estate, or when it loses its identity as separate. Burt v. Burt, 799

P.2d 1166, 1169 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). This Court has never created a bright-line test that would have required the trial court to credit Mr. Thompson the proceeds from the sale of his California home. Rather, the trial court's determination that the proceeds from said sale were commingled into the marital estate, and therefore subject to equal division, is in line with legal standards set forth by this Court. Id.; Dunn v. Dunn, 802 P.2d 1314, 1321 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THERE IS NO PRECEDENT IN UTAH LAW THAT A TRIAL COURT MUST “BACK OUT” ALLEGED SEPARATE PROPERTY INTERESTS AS UTAH LAW CLEARLY PROVIDES THAT SEPARATE PROPERTY OF ONE PARTY CAN BECOME MARITAL SUBJECT TO EQUAL DIVISION.**

The crux of Mr. Thompson's argument in this appeal is that the trial court was required to “back out” Mr. Thompson's alleged premarital property prior to dividing the parties' marital estate. Nowhere in Utah law is there such a bright-line test that requires trial courts in divorce matters to apply such a methodology in dividing a marital estate. Whether property is marital or separate is a fact intensive issue that is dependant on the particular circumstances of each case. Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276, 1277 (Utah 1987) (“The appropriate treatment of property brought into a marriage by one may vary from case to case.”).

This Court has provided a methodology trial courts are to follow when confronted with marital estates involving claims of separate property and marital property. Burt v. Burt, 799 P.2d 1166, 1172 (Utah Ct. App. 1990); Dunn v. Dunn, 802 P.2d 1314, 1322-23 (Utah

Ct. App. 1990). In Burt, this Court stated that a trial court should first properly categorize the parties' property as part of the marital estate or as the separate property of one or the other. Burt, 799 P.2d at 1172. In this matter, the trial court properly categorized the items of property at issue in this appeal, a portion of Mr. Thompson's 401(k) and the St. George home, as marital property. (See Addendum 1 at ¶ 10, ¶ 15; R 206-07). Once the trial court has found that property is marital, the next step is for the trial court to determine how the property should be divided. Burt, 799 P.2d 1172. Each party is presumed to be entitled to fifty percent of the marital property. Id. Here, the trial court divided the marital portion of Respondent's 401(k) and the equity in the marital home in St. George equally. Thus, the trial court's determinations regarding the division of these marital assets was certainly consistent with appellate authority.

Mr. Thompson's approach ignores that separate property may be consumed and its identification as separate property lost through commingling and exchanges. Dunn v. Dunn, 802 P.2d 1314, 1323 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). Separate property may lose its separate distinction where the parties have inextricably commingled it into the marital estate, or where one spouse has contributed all or part of the property to the marital estate. Id. Whether property has been commingled into the marital estate or otherwise lost its separate character is a factual determination for the trial court to make, which is presumed by this Court to be correct because this Court lacks the advantage of seeing and hearing witnesses testify. Baker v. Baker, 866 P.2d 540, 542-43 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) ("The trial court's findings of fact are

presumed to be correct, and because we lack the advantage of seeing and hearing witnesses testify, we do not make our own findings of fact.”).

Mr. Thompson relies heavily throughout his brief on the unpublished opinion of Hayes v. Hayes, 2006 UT App. 289, which is, incidentally, the only Utah case that has used the term “back-out method.” In Hayes, this Court stated that “the trial court properly used a ‘back-out’ method to credit Husband’s contribution toward the marital property before applying the fifty percent presumption.” Id. at \*1. At issue in Hayes was whether the trial court erred in awarding husband separate financial contributions to the marital estate. Id. In affirming the trial court’s decision, this Court stated that “the trial court can properly subtract the parties’ contributions to the marital property before equally dividing the remaining equity.” Id. (emphasis added). Mr. Thompson’s argument that the trial court must use the “back-out method” is not supported by Hayes or any other Utah case. The holding in Hayes was that the trial court in that matter did not abuse its discretion by giving husband his separate contributions to the marital estate, not that trial courts must do so or risk being overturned on appeal. Such absolute rule has never been applied by this Court and would not only unreasonably constrain trial courts from exercising their broad discretion in dividing marital estates, but would contradict this Court’s approach that “[t]he appropriate treatment of property brought into a marriage by one may vary from case to case.” Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276, 1277 (Utah 1987).

Through this appeal, Mr. Thompson is attempting to persuade this Court to substitute

its judgment on factual determinations, i.e. the designation of property as marital, which this Court cannot do under Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a). (“Findings of fact, whether based on oral documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the trial court to judge the credibility of the witness.”). Mr. Thompson attempts to frame his appellate arguments as involving purely legal issues. However, whether the property has been properly characterized as separate or marital is fact intensive and should not be reviewed in a vacuum as purely a legal issue. As discussed in Section II, infra, Mr. Thompson has failed to provide a transcript of the trial, resulting in this Court having absolutely no ability to review the testimony given by the parties during their one-day trial setting. Thus, this Court has an insufficient record upon which to review the trial court’s findings of fact for clear error. Further, Mr. Thompson has failed to marshal the evidence as he is required to do under Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(9). The deficiencies in Mr. Thompson’s brief are fatal to his appeal because he is attempting to challenge factual findings without providing this Court an adequate basis to review such findings.

**II. MR. THOMPSON FAILED TO OBTAIN A TRANSCRIPT OF THE TRIAL AND HAS FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE IN HIS BRIEF, AND ON THESE GROUNDS ALONE THE TRIAL COURT’S FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.**

**A. Mr. Thompson did not request a transcript of the trial which results in this Court having an inadequate basis to determine whether the trial court erred in making its factual and legal determinations.**

As the appellant in the matter, Mr. Thompson had the duty to request a copy of the trial transcript. Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 11(e)(2) (2008) provides that:



If the appellant intends to urge on appeal that a finding or conclusion is unsupported by or is contrary to the evidence, the appellant shall include in the record a transcript of all evidence relevant to such finding or conclusion. Neither the court nor the appellee is obligated to correct appellant's deficiencies in providing the relevant portions of the transcript.

This Court has determined that “without all the relevant evidence bearing on the issues raised on appeal, as required by Utah R. App. P. 11(e)(2), ‘we can only presume that the judgment was supported by sufficient evidence.’” Horton v. Gem State Mut. of Utah, 974 P.2d 847, 849 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). This Court has further stated that “[w]hen an appellant argues on appeal that a finding or conclusion is unsupported by or contrary to the evidence, the appellant is required to include in the record a transcript of all evidence relevant to the finding or conclusion.” Orem City v. Walton, 2002 UT App. 427. Both the Utah Supreme Court and this Court have routinely affirmed trial court determinations on the basis that appellants have failed to provide a trial transcript. See, e.g., Burke v. Burke, 773 P.2d 498 (Utah 1987); Fackrell v. Fackrell, 740 P.2d 1318 (Utah 1987); Goodman v. Wilkinson, 629 P.2d 447 (Utah 1981); Sawyers v. Sawyers, 558 P.2d 607 (Utah 1976); Spanish Fork City v. Rupper, 2007 UT App. 57; Radl v. Univ. of Utah, 2003 UT App. 164; West Valley City v. Pettengill, 1999 UT App. 236.

The success of Mr. Thompson's appeal swings on whether this Court decides that the trial court erred in finding the assets in question marital. Mr. Thompson has set forth a self serving factual scenario in his “Statement of Material Facts” and “Argument” sections of his appellate brief. However, most of Mr. Thompson's factual allegations are based, either in

whole or in part, on Mr. Thompson's trial brief which is not in evidence and cannot be relied on by this Court as a depiction of the facts in this divorce matter. Lacking a transcript of the trial, Mr. Thompson is unable to cite to any testimony received by the trial court that may have supported the trial court's determinations. Judge Beacham explicitly stated in his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that he relied on "testimonies of the witnesses" in making its determinations. (Addendum 1 at p.1; R. 205). Absent the trial transcript, this Court is left without an adequate record of the proceedings to determine whether the trial court erred in making its factual findings and applying the law to the fact intense question of whether property is marital or separate. Mr. Thompson's claims of error are "merely an unsupported, unilateral allegation which this Court cannot resolve." Horton v. Gem State Mut. of Utah, 794 P.2d 847, 849 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (citing Mark VII Fin. Consultants Corp. v. Smedley, 792 P.2d 130, 134 (Utah Ct. App. 1990)).

Mr. Thompson has the burden of providing this Court with an adequate record to preserve his arguments for review. Horton v. Gem State Mut. of Utah, 794 P.2d 847, 849 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). This Court should determine, as it has done in many previous cases, that in light of Mr. Thompson's failure to provide a transcript of the trial proceeding, this Court can only presume that the determinations of the trial court were supported by sufficient evidence.

**B. Mr. Thompson failed to marshal the evidence as required under the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.**

Rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure requires that a party

challenging a finding of fact must marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding. In the absence of an adequate record, an appellant cannot satisfy his burden on appeal to marshal the evidence, and this Court cannot perform meaningful appellate review of the evidentiary support for the judgment. Orem City v. Carrasco, 2003 UT App. 185; Horton v. Gem State Mut. Of Utah, 794 P.2d 847, 849 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). Even where a party seeks to challenge a legal determination that is based on the application of a legal standard that is extremely fact sensitive, the appellant also has a duty to marshal the evidence. Chen v. Stewart, 100 P.3d 1177, 1184 (Utah 2004). Mr. Thompson has failed entirely to marshal the evidence in his Brief.

To properly marshal evidence, the challenging party must “demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below.” Chen v. Stewart, 100 P.3d 1177, 1195 (Utah 2004). Where an appellant challenges a trial court’s rulings on highly fact-dependent issues, like those frequently encountered in divorce cases, appellate courts grant broader than normal discretion to the trial court. Id. The marshaling requirement is not one that is easily met, in fact, the requirements are “rigorous and strict.” Id. An appellant, in order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, “must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very finding the appellant resists.” Id. (quoting Neely v. Bennett, 51 P.3d 724, 727 (Utah Ct. App. 2002)). “The process of marshaling is thus fundamentally different from that of

presenting the evidence at trial. The challenging party must ‘temporarily remove its own prejudices and fully embrace the adversary's position’; he or she must play the ‘devil's advocate.’” Id. (quoting Harding v. Bell, 57 P.3d 1093 (Utah 2002)). Appellants must not attempt to construe the evidence in a light favorable to their case, nor can they merely present carefully selected facts and excerpts from the record to support their position. Id. Appellants are also prohibited from simply restating or reviewing evidence that “points to an alternate finding or a finding contrary to the trial court’s finding of fact.” Id. Further, appellants cannot shift the burden of marshaling by falsely claiming that there is no evidence in support of the trial court’s findings. Id.

If an appellant fails to meet the marshaling requirement, the appellate court has grounds to affirm the trial court’s findings on that basis alone. Id. at 1196. An appellant’s failure to marshal the evidence will result in the appellate court assuming that the evidence supports the trial court’s findings. Id.

As discussed previously, the essential question in this appeal is whether property was properly characterized by the trial court as marital property subject to equal division. In making its determinations, the trial court in this matter clearly relied on the “testimony of the parties” given at trial. (Addendum 1, at p.1; R. 205). For Mr. Thompson to show the trial court erred in making its findings and conclusions, Mr. Thompson has the marshaling burden of presenting, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very finding he resists. Id. Mr. Thompson has made

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